# 2008-KA-02060-SCTT

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Mississippi Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Mississippi Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Frank Sanders Tipton Appellant

Ross Parker Simons Attorney for Appellant

Donald J. Rafferty Trial Counsel

Wm. T. "Dale" Harkey Judge, 19th District

Jean Smith Vaughan Brandon Lee Ogburn Office of the Attorney General Prosecutors

This, the 14th day of August, 2009.

Ross Parker Simons

##

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Procedural History
Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Raised
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT 20-42
Summary of the issues:
<u>Issue I</u> The trial court committed fatal error when it instructed the jury in C-2 that two elements which were to be found by the jury were already proven 20-28
<u>Issue II</u> The trial court erred in construing a penal statute in favor of the state rather than liberally in favor of the accused
Issue III Mr. Tipton's indictment failed to set out two elements of the crime charged and did not recite the facts of the crime concisely enough to fully notify him of the allegation against him
Issue IV The state produced insufficient evidence to support Mr. Tipton's conviction. Further, the verdict was against the weight and credibility of the evidence
Issue V Mr. Tipton's jury was not sworn and its verdict is therefore illegal and unconstitutional according to this Court's precedent
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

## TABLE OF CASES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

## Cases

Acreman v. State, 907 So.2d 1005 (Miss. App. 2005)
Allen v. State, 2005-KA-00755-COA (Miss. App. 2006)
Baker v. State, 802 So.2d 77 (Miss. 2001)
Bell v. State, 360 So.2d 1206 (Miss. 1978)
Champluvier v. State, 942 So.2d 1087 (Miss. 2006)
Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180 (Miss. 1998)
Edwards v. State, 469 So.2d 68 (Miss. 1985)
Edwards v. State, 97-KA-00434-COA (Miss. App. 1999)
Fasulo v. United States, 272 U.S. 620; 71 L. Ed. 442 (1926)
Foster v. State, 716 So.2d 538 (Miss. 1998)
Gaskin v. State, 2001-CT-01153-SCT (Miss. 2003)
Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963)
Hall v. State, 644 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 1994)
Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099 (Miss. 2002)
Lester v. State, 744 So.2d 757 (Miss. 1999)
Love v. State, 52 So.2d 470 (Miss. 1951)
McHale v. Daniel 233 So.2d 764 (Miss. 1970)
McInnis v. State, 97 Miss. 280, 52 So. 634 (1910)
McKaskle v. Wiggins 465 U.S. 168 (1984)
Miller v. State, 122 Miss. 19, 84 So.2d 161 (Miss. 1920)
Newell v. State, 308 So.2d 71 (Miss. 1975)

Ratcliff v. State, 234 Miss. 724, 107 So.2d 728 (1958)
Russell v. State, 832 So.2d 551 (Miss. App. 2002)
Sanders v. State, 678 So.2d 663 (Miss. 1996)
Seeling v. State, 844 So.2d 439 (Miss. 2003)
United States v. Resnick, 229 U.S. 207, 81 L. Ed. 127 (1936)
United States v. Wiltberger, 5 Wheat 76, 95 (1820)
Westmoreland v. State, 246 So.2d 487 (Miss. 1971)
Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181(Miss. 2001)
Young v. State, 425 So.2d 1022 (Miss. 1983)
<u>Statutes</u>
Miss. Code Ann. 97-11-33
Miss. Code Ann. 47-5-1003(1)
Miss. Code Ann. 13-5-71
Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice
Rule 7.06

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### Issue I

The trial court—through Instruction C-2—granted the state a peremptory instruction on two elements of the crime by defining Court Programs, Inc., as a "contractor providing incarceration services" for the City of Gulfport.

The jury was confused because it recognized that in Instruction C-2 the trial court itself had defined Court Programs, Inc., as "a contractor providing incarceration services to the City of Gulfport". When the jury questioned the court about how to proceed (Exhibit C-2), the court did not clarify the confusion or correct the instruction (Exhibit C-4).

The jury alone was to make the decision on whether or not Court Programs, Inc., was a contractor that provided incarceration services, and this was a hotly contested point at trial. When the trial court took the decision out of the jurors' hands, it committed reversible error.

#### **Issue II**

In ruling on Mr. Tipton's Motion for a Directed Verdict, the trial court construed the statute in favor of the state rather than strictly in favor of Mr. Tipton as it was required to do.

#### **Issue III**

The indictment is fatally and facially defective in that it failed to allege the required elements that Court Programs, Inc., was "a contractor" and that it provided "incarceration services" to the City of Gulfport.

Further, the indictment failed to contain a plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and did not fully notify Mr. Tipton of the nature and cause of the accusation. Instead, it charged that Mr. Tipton both "demanded" and "asked" Ms. Rayborn to allow him to watch her shower, the terms being polar opposites and the latter of which, even if proven, did not constitute a crime. Additionally, the indictment failed to clearly state what constituted the "reward" element required by the statute.

#### Issue IV

The state produced insufficient evidence to support Mr. Tipton's conviction. Furthermore, the verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence. Thus, the trial court erred in denying Mr. Tipton's request for a peremptory instruction, his Motion for a Directed Verdict, and his Motion for a New Trial. After applying the standards by which it tests the sufficiency and the weight and credibility of the evidence, this Court should reverse and render Mr. Tipton's conviction and sentence.

from October 2003 to December 2005, and Mr. Tipton was an employee at that time. (Tr. 83-84). He had been told that Mr. Tipton supervised Dorothy Lakay Rayborn during that time, though he had no actual recollection of it. (Tr. 85).

In his first appearance as a witness for the state, Mr. Langenbacker, in response to the leading question, "And Court Programs, Inc., had an agreement with the City of Gulfport to administer probation services for the Court?" he answered "Yes." (Tr. 88). He was not asked if Court Programs, Inc., administered "incarceration services" for the City of Gulfport.

Additionally, Mr Langenbacker, during this first call to the witness stand, testified that Mr. Tipton had told him, in the evening of April 14, 2004, that he had "messed up with a client to do something to help with her probation." That something, Mr. Langenbacker recalled, had something to do with "nude bathing. Something to that effect." (Tr. 88).

On cross-examination, Mr. Langenbacker testified that Court Programs, Inc., did not provide incarceration services, rather it provided alternatives to incarceration. (Tr. 90).

#### Joe Langenbacker (second appearance)

Mr. Langenbacker was recalled by the state (Tr. 187) after the state had put on all its proof but not yet rested. Before Mr. Langenbacker took the stand, trial counsel challenged the state's right to recall him, both as a violation of the rule of sequestration because Mr. Langenbacker had had a conversation with Joey Turnage after Turnage left the witness stand (and before Mr. Langenbacker re-took the stand) and a violation of the rule controlling the manner and order in which witnesses are presented and interrogated.

After a defense objection, the trial court held an inquiry outside the presence of the jury to determine if Mr. Langenbacker and/or Mr. Turnage had violated the rule of sequestration. (Tr. 186-197). Mr. Langenbacker testified that he had a conversation with Mr. Turnage before his

second appearance on the witness stand. While being examined by defense counsel, Mr. Langenbacker responded that he had asked Mr. Turnage if he (Mr. Langenbacker) would take the stand. (Tr. 188). Then he responded "Yes, sir" to the question of whether he and Mr. Turnage were talking about Mr. Tipton's case. (Tr. 189, ln. 1-5). Then immediately thereafter in response to the prosecutor's question of whether he spoke "specifically about the case" to Mr. Turnage, Mr. Langenbacker testified that he did not. (Tr. 189, ln. 11-13).

The trial court took over questioning at this time and elicited that along with fishing stories, some of Mr. Langenbacker's conversation with Mr. Turnage included "a portion as far as his understanding as to what Court Programs did, also as far as administrative things—warrants, basic questions as far as how we handled warrants and things like that" and that Mr. Turnage was asking Mr. Langenbacker questions. (Tr. 189-190).

Counsel made a further objection to the fact that the state had realized it had not presented proof that Court Programs, Inc., provided "incarceration services" or that it had a contract with the City of Gulfport, and without such proof the state's case could not survive a motion for a directed verdict. (Tr. 192). The objections were overruled, and Mr. Langenbacker again took the stand.

During this appearance on the witness stand the state asked Mr. Langenbacker if Court Programs, Inc., "h[ad] a contract with, or an agreement with the City of Gulfport to provide incarceration, I mean probation services." <sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The jury was as confused as the prosecutor on this issue, and sent a note to the trial judge (Exhibit C-2, RE 9), asking the court if Instruction C-2 (CP 49, RE 8) contained "a typographical error" that should be corrected by replacing "incarceration services" with "probation services". (Tr. 326-327). The state's failure to prove that Court Programs, Inc., provided incarceration services, is, of course, central to most of the arguments in this brief.

The answer to the question—corrected from incarceration to probation—was "Yes." (Tr. 198).

Mr. Langenbacker went on to testify that:

The City of Gulfport did not have a financial agreement with Court Programs. The actual payment for probation services was paid by the defendant. The defendant we titled as clients. The client actually had to pay for the services out of their pocket, so there was no monetary reimbursement from the City of Gulfport.

(Tr. 199)

Finally, Mr. Langenbacker testified that Court Programs, Inc., had an "administrative function to inform the court . . . that the person on probation was in violation by not doing the actual orders of the judge." (Tr. 200).

On cross-examination of his recalled testimony, Mr. Langenbacker testified that employees of Court Programs, Inc., were not certified law enforcement officers or department of corrections officers and that they were only private employees (Tr. 202) and, finally, Mr. Langenbacker answered "That is correct" to the question: "Is it true that your company did not provide incarceration services. It provided alternatives to incarceration services?" (Tr.202-203).

#### Joseph Turnage

Mr. Turnage, an investigator for the office of the state Attorney General, testified immediately following Joe Langenbacker's initial testimony. As noted by the trial judge at Tr. 195, Mr. Turnage had heard Mr. Langenbacker's testimony due to a late invocation of the rule of sequestration. <sup>2</sup> (Tr. 92, 195).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As noted above, Mr. Turnage also had a conversation with Mr. Langenbacker about the procedures of Court Programs, Inc., just before Mr. Langenbacker's second testimony.

Mr. Turnage testified that he received a call from an associate in law enforcement who relayed to him Lakay Rayborn's allegations about Mr. Tipton, her probation officer. Mr. Turnage then directed Ms. Rayborn to make contact with Mr. Tipton and monitored the telephone conversation that ensued. (Tr.94-96). Mr. Turnage also testified as to the nature of Lakay Rayborn's complaint about Mr. Tipton, and after the phone call arranged for Lakay Rayborn to have Mr. Tipton meet her at her aunt's trailer, where officers would monitor and audiotape the meeting from inside and outside the trailer. (Tr. 105-106). The audiotape of Lakay Rayborn and Mr. Tipton's conversation was introduced through Mr. Turnage's testimony as State's Exhibit No. 1. (Tr. 112).

Mr. Turnage also testified to what he heard on the tape and that he and another investigator from the Office of the Attorney General, Kyle Wilson, had, the same day as the audiotape was made, gone to Mr. Tipton's home and confronted him about the event they had taped. (Tr. 123). There, Mr. Tipton told Turnage and Wilson that he had gone to Lakay Rayborn's trailer that day to give her a drug test and scold her for not paying her fines.

On cross-examination, Mr. Turnage testified that he had heard Mr. Langenbacker's testimony on the previous day that Court Programs, Inc., did not provide incarceration services.

(Tr. 143). <sup>3</sup> After some back-and-forth with defense counsel about whether Mr. Tipton was an officer contemplated by the statute or a private employee of a private company, Mr. Turnage testified regarding Mr. Langenbacker's testimony, which he had heard because of the late invocation of the rule of sequestration:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> He also stated, though it was stricken after objection, that this was different from what Mr. Tipton's "boss" had told him. This person, David Rothbart, would have been competent to testify to the services provided by Court Programs, Inc., to Gulfport, but the state did not call him.

I don't even know that he was asked those questions about whether or not he, whether or not there was ever a document that Mr. Tipton signed, signed an affidavit about a probation client that he had under his control.

(Tr. 148)

Further questions involved whether or not Mr. Tipton had told Mr. Turnage that he had told his boss (David Rothbart, who was not called as a witness) that Ms. Rayborn had made "advances" on him. Mr. Turnage denied this, stating that he had asked Mr. Tipton whether or not that had occurred and he had said no, but he agreed that Mr. Tipton had told his boss about the allegation. (Tr. 150-151). When defense counsel asked Mr. Turnage whether or not Mr. Tipton had told him that he had helped Ms. Rayborn get a job at Rite-Aid, where his wife was assistant manager, he acknowledged that encouraging probationers in seeking employment is a fundamental duty of probation officers but also stated, over an objection, "But not to the extent of trying to get her to take a shower in front of him." (Tr. 151-152). Mr. Turnage also acknowledged that Mr. Tipton had told him that Ms. Rayborn had problems at the job he had helped her secure and that she was fired and she "had made some complaints about him and his wife." (Tr. 152-153). He also testified that Mr. Tipton had not told him of any threats of retaliation from Ms. Rayborn. (Tr. 152). He further testified that Ms. Rayborn had told him about being accused by Rite-Aid management of having money missing from her cash register. (Tr. 155).

On redirect, the state asked Mr. Turnage about the services that Court Programs, Inc., offered and did not offer. This was followed by an objection which was sustained and the state asked no further questions of Mr. Turnage. (Tr. 157).

#### **Kyle Wilson**

The state's questioning of Mr. Wilson, an investigator for the Attorney General's Office, developed that he had been secreted in Ms. Rayborn's aunt's trailer and had aurally monitored the conversation between Mr. Tipton and Ms. Rayborn. There was no cross-examination.

#### **Dorothy Lakay Rayborn**

In pertinent part, Ms. Rayborn testified that she was convicted of shoplifting from a Wal-Mart in Gulfport and had been fined \$300.00 and ordered to pay restitution and court costs.

She was also placed on probation and ordered to pay supervision fees. Frank Tipton was her probation officer. (Tr. 167). During her six-month probation period, Mr. Tipton visited her at her facks on County aunt's house in Ocean Springs, although she did not recall how many times he visited. (Tr. 168).

Ms. Rayborn testified that she was put in contact with the Attorney General's Office after she contacted a friend in law enforcement because Mr. Tipton "was going to sign a warrant for me to go to jail if I didn't pay the fine or do something like take a shower. And I didn't want to go to jail, so I called Mike because I didn't know what else to do." (Tr. 169). When asked if Mr. Tipton ever "ask[ed] you to do anything or did he make inappropriate comments to you?", Ms. Rayborn testified "Yes". (Tr. 171). "He asked me, he told me that if I took a shower and let him watch me, then he would pay my fine and give me a receipt every time." (Tr. 172). She testified that Mr. Tipton helped her get a job at Rite-Aid and that a cash register till for which she had co-responsibility was missing some money, although she wasn't certain that was the reason she left Rite-Aid. (Tr. 174). She identified the audiotape as the one that was recorded on the day she met with Mr. Tipton at her aunt's trailer. (Tr. 176-177).

At one point, in a question about the tape, the prosecutor characterized part of Mr.

Tipton's conversation as a "demand", but after an objection was sustained the state modified its

see jury of instruction - also uses the word demand

Threatening to have her imprisoned

questioning to "Who asked you to take a shower?" and "Who asked you to model?" Ms.

Rayborn responded that Mr. Tipton had. The state also characterized Mr. Tipton's statement as a proposition and Ms. Rayborn affirmed that she refused it and did not accept it. (Tr. 180). Ms.

Rayborn went on to testify that Mr. Tipton "said that he's got a warrant and he could—all he has to do is take it over and get the judge to sign it to violate my probation." (Tr. 180). Mr. Tipton also, according to Ms. Rayborn's testimony, kept reminding her that she had fines to pay and an incident in Ocean Springs she had to resolve. "It's like giving me an ultimatum. Either I have to do it or I go back to jail." (Tr. 181). This testimony is contradicted by the audiotape introduced as State's Exhibit 1 and the transcript of the tape which is in the record as State's Exhibit 2, for identification.

On cross-examination, Ms. Rayborn testified that the ultimatum she described on direct—that she would have to shower for Mr. Tipton or go back to jail—did not appear on the audiotape introduced as State's Exhibit 1. (Tr. 183).

#### Mr. Tipton's Proof

#### Dorothy Lakay Rayborn (first defense testimony)

Mr. Tipton's counsel called Ms. Rayborn as his first witness. She testified that Frank Tipton and his wife Diane had helped her get a job at Rite-Aid. Although she recalled that she had been terminated, she was not sure if it had been about April 1, 2004. (Tr. 223). She replied, "I don't think so" to the question that she had been terminated by Rite-Aid and had returned to the store about April 8, 2004, to pick up her last check. (Tr. 223). She testified that she was not banned from going back into the store and that she had not had a discussion with Mrs. Tipton at that time. Her responses were "No" to the questions of 1) whether or not she made any

statements to Mrs. Tipton toward Frank, 2) if while working at Rite-Aid she was instructed about her conduct by a supervisor, and 3) if she went to the store under the influence of drugs or alcohol. (Tr. 224). Ms. Rayborn was not cross-examined by the state.

#### Jacqueline Kluender

Ms. Kluender testified that she had worked for Rite-Aid in Ocean Springs for four (4) years and that she had been assigned to supervise Ms. Rayborn as her "buddy trainer", a system set up by Rite-Aid to allow more experienced employees to break in new employees, because she had seniority as a Rite-Aid cashier. She also knew both Mr. and Mrs. Tipton, as Mrs. Tipton was her assistant manager. (Tr. 225-227). She testified that Ms. Rayborn came to work for Rite-Aid in March 2004 and had been separated soon thereafter. (Tr. 226). She trained Ms. Rayborn on her cash register and the register came up \$40.00 short. (Tr. 227-228). Ms. Kluender had ultimate responsibility for the register and had never been short before, but she had given Ms. Rayborn her code when she went on a break. She deemed this to be a mistake. (Tr. 228). On the day that Ms. Rayborn was suspended from Rite-Aid, Ms. Kluender heard her threaten Mrs. Tipton, telling her that "she would be sorry" and "you're going to pay for this." "Because...[i]f I lose my job, I'll go back to jail, and I'm not going back." (Tr. 230).

Ms. Kluender later witnessed another threat Ms. Rayborn made to Mrs. Tipton when Ms. Rayborn came back on the premises to pick up her terminal check after being told she was forbidden to enter the Rite-Aid. The threat was "You know, you're going to be sorry for this, because if I go down, I'm taking Frank and you with me." (Tr. 231). Ms. Kluender further testified that in her opinion Ms. Rayborn was "not truthful." (Tr. 233).

On cross-examination, Ms. Kluender reiterated that she was Ms. Rayborn's buddy trainer and that she (Ms. Kluender) was in charge of the till that came up \$40.00 short but that Ms.

Rayborn was working out of the same till. (Tr. 235). On re-direct, she again explained that Ms. Rayborn used her till when she was training her. (Tr. 235).

#### Kimberly Kline

Ms. Kline was Ms. Rayborn's roommate from mid-January 2004 to early April of that year. (Tr. 237). She described Ms. Rayborn as untruthful and a "manipulator" and "con artist." (Tr.237, 238, 239). She was aware that Ms. Rayborn had been fired from Rite-Aid. (Tr. 239). On cross-examination, Ms. Kline testified that she had a dispute with Ms. Rayborn over a man and that she had once filed charges on her in Ocean Springs. (Tr. 240). On re-direct, she testified that the dispute began because Ms. Rayborn had started sleeping with Ms. Kline's ex-boyfriend. (Tr. 240).

#### **Diane Tipton**

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