IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FRANK SANDERS TIPTON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-2060

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant is procedurally barred from arguing that Jury Instruction C-2 was improper as he failed to raise a contemporaneous objection. There was no plain error as the instruction fully set forth each of the required elements of extortion.

The trial court did not improperly interpret Mississippi Code Annotated §97-11-33 when it ruled on the Appellant's motion for directed verdict. Based on the language used by the legislature in the statute, the trial court properly read the statute to include a broader meaning of the term "any contractor providing incarceration services" which included a contractor providing both probations services and supervision for those under house arrest.

The indictment which charged the Appellant with extortion was legally sufficient. A fair reading of the indictment as a whole evidences that the indictment contained a clear description of the nature and cause of the charges against the accused. Further, the indictment was sufficiently specific to give notice of the unlawful act and exclusive enough to prevent its application to other acts. Additionally, the Appellant was not prejudiced in the preparation of his defense.

There was sufficient evidence establishing each element of the crime charged and the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Lastly, the Appellant did not rebut the presumption that the trial court properly performed its duties including that of swearing in the jury. In fact, the record indicates that the jury was sworn.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM ARGUING THAT JURY INSTRUCTION C-2 WAS IMPROPER; HOWEVER, PROCEDURAL BAR NOTWITHSTANDING, THE JURY WAS FULLY INSTRUCTED AS TO THE ELEMENTS OF EXTORTION.

The Appellant first asserts that the jury was improperly instructed, specifically arguing that "Instruction C-2 relieved the jury of its duty to determine if the State had proven all of the elements of the crime charged against [the Appellant]." (Appellant's Brief p. 20). However, the Appellant is procedurally barred from making this argument. According to Mississippi Code Annotated §97-11-33, extortion is proven when a person in any one of the listed capacities (judge, justice court judge, sheriff, deputy sheriff, sheriff's employee, constable, assessor, collector, clerk, county medical examiner, county medical examiner investigator, employee of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, employee of any contractor providing incarceration services or any other officer) demands, takes, or collects, under color of his position, any money fee or reward not authorized by law or demands and receives any fee for service not actually performed. The original "elements" instruction was S-1 and reads as follows:

... For you to be able to find him guilty of extortion, you must believe from all the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1. That the defendant was employed and serving as a probation officer with Court Programs, Inc. during the period on or about April 9, 2004, through on or about April 15, 2004, in Jackson County, Mississippi;
- 2. That he then and there did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously and knowingly demand from Lakay Rayburn, under color of his office as a probation officer, a reward, which was not authorized by law; and
- 3. That said reward he, while acting as Rayburn's probation officer, demanded was for Rayburn to allow him to watch her take a shower in exchange for him paying her fines imposed by the court as part of her sentence for a misdemeanor offense,

then you shall find the defendant guilty as charged.

(Record p. 53). As noted by the trial judge, Instruction S-1 leaves out an essential element of the

crime, i.e. the "position element." (Transcript p. 289). After some discussion, including an objection to this particular instruction by the Appellant, it was agreed that the instruction needed to be changed. Later, Instruction C-2, a modified "elements" instruction was presented with NO OBJECTION. (Transcript p. 300 - 301). Instruction C-2, set forth below, is NOT the same instruction as S-1:

. . . For you to find him guilty of extortion, you must believe from all the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant did:

- 1. On or between April 9, 2004 and April 15, 2004, in Jackson County, Mississippi;
- 2. While employed as a probation officer with Court Programs, Inc., a contractor providing incarceration services for the City of Gulfport, Mississippi, and under the color of said office;
- 3. Unlawfully, feloniously and knowingly demanded a reward, not authorized by law, in that he demanded of Lakay Rayburn to allow him to watch her take a shower in exchange for him paying her fines imposed by the court as part of her sentence for a misdemeanor offense,

then you shall find the defendant guilty as charged.

(Record p. 49). As such, the Appellant should have objected to Instruction C-2 at the time it was presented if he did not feel it was an accurate representation of the law. He failed to do so and also failed to specifically raise the issue in his motion for new trial. Thus, the matter is procedurally barred. *See Lepine v. State*, 10 So.3d 927, 944 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (holding that "[g]enerally, when a jury instruction is offered at trial, it is the duty of the opposing party, in order to preserve the

¹ "Position element" refers to the requirement in the statute that the person must be operating in any one of the listed capacities (judge, justice court judge, sheriff, deputy sheriff, sheriff's employee, constable, assessor, collector, clerk, county medical examiner, county medical examiner investigator, employee of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, employee of any contractor providing incarceration services or any other officer) during the commission of the crime.

point for appeal, to state a contemporaneous objection in specific terms").2

The Appellant, however, argues that granting this instruction constitutes plain error. "To prevail under the doctrine of plain error, the [Appellant] must show that there was error, that the error resulted in a manifest injustice, and that it affected the defendant's fundamental rights," Hicks v. State, 973 So.2d 211, 217 (Miss. 2007). The Appellant has not proven each of these requirements. While Mississippi law establishes that "failure to submit to the jury the essential elements of the crime is 'fundamental error,'" Heidelberg v. State, 976 So.2d 948, 949 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), the Appellant still must prove that there was an error, in this case, a failure to instruct the jury on each of the required elements. The Appellant cannot do so as Instruction C-2 clearly lists each of the elements required by statute that the jury "must believe from all the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt." Paragraph 1 of the instruction sets forth the time and place. Paragraph 2 sets forth 2 elements: (1) the "position element" and (2) the requirement that the Appellant be acting under color of this position. Paragraph 3 describes the actual act which constitutes extortion that the jury must believe beyond a reasonable doubt that the Appellant committed while acting under the color of the position listed. Instruction C-2 listed each of these elements, unlike proposed instruction S-1 which failed to instruct the jury with regard to the capacity in which the accused must act in order to be guilty of extortion. As such, the jury was fully instructed regarding each element. Thus, there was no error and therefore, no plain error.

On appeal, the Appellant also takes issue with the form of the instruction by stating that "a

Nonetheless, the Appellant argues that the "error" was preserved for appeal. (Appellant's Brief p. 24). He contends that he made a "related objection" in that he moved for directed verdict based on the State's alleged failure to provide evidence establishing the "position element." He further argues that this objection made the trial court "aware of the elements problem" and therefore, the jury instruction "error" was properly preserved. (Appellant's Brief p. 25). The State would counter that this "related objection" does not meet the requirement of "stat[ing] a contemporaneous objection in specific terms" as required by Lepine v. State (emphasis added). As such, the "error" was not preserved for appeal.

properly drawn instruction would have separated the element focusing on [the Appellant's] employment status from the element requiring that Court Programs, Inc. 1) was a contractor with the City of Gulfport, and 2) that it provided incarceration services to the city." (Appellant's Brief p. 21 - 22). Again, if the Appellant believed that the instruction could have been worded in a better way, he should have offered an alternative instruction. He did not. In fact, the following exchange took place after the trial court presented both parties with the proposed instruction:

COURT: I guess I ought to just call this C-2, the

elements instruction.

COUNSEL FOR THE STATE: That's fine with the State.

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT: No objection.

COURT: Is C-2 alright?

COUNSEL FOR THE STATE: Yes, Your Honor.

COURT: Anybody have any problem with the Court's

C-2, the elements instruction?

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT: No, sir. COUNSEL FOR THE STATE: No, sir.

COURT: No objections for the record?

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT: Do not, no, sir.

COUNSEL FOR THE STATE: No, sir.

COURT: Okay. C-2 will be given and stamped.

(Transcript p. 300 - 301). The trial court gave the Appellant no less than three opportunities to voice any concerns regarding the instruction and each time the Appellant failed to do so.

Additionally, this Court has previously held that "the trial court enjoys considerable discretion regarding the form and substance of jury instructions." *Higgins v. State*, 725 So.2d 220, 223 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Splain v. Hines*, 609 So.2d 1234, 1239 (Miss. 1992)). *See also Armstrong v. State*, 828 So.2d 239, 244 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Moreover, simply grouping more than one element into a single paragraph in the instructions does not make the instructions improper. There is no requirement that each individual element be listed in an individual paragraph in the jury instructions. Again, if the Appellant believed that the instruction would be better understood if this

were done, then he should have requested such at the time. As the Court of Appeals held in *Armstrong*, "the dispositive question is whether the jury was fully and correctly instructed on the principle of law involved." 828 So.2d at 244. As shown above, each element was presented to the jury. Thus, the jury was fully and correctly instructed and there is no error.

Nonetheless, the Appellant argues that the instruction was tantamount to granting a peremptory instruction with regard to the "position element" of the crime. However, the record makes clear that it was not the trial court's intent to do so. After the trial court denied the Appellant's motion for directed verdict, specifically with regard to whether the Appellant's position qualified under the extortion statute, the court informed the Appellant that he could argue that point to the jury. (Transcript p. 290).³ Clearly, the trial court did not, and was not attempting to, grant a peremptory instruction with regard to an element of the crime.

The Appellant further asserts that the instruction was confusing as evidenced by the notes sent to the trial court during deliberation. (Appellant's Brief p. 22). Two notes were sent to the trial court from the jury. The first simply stated:

We would like the legal and dictionary definition of the word EXTORTION.

(Exhibit C-1). The trial court read the note to counsel for both parties. (Transcript p. 323 - 325).

After some discussion concerning the best way to respond, the trial judge responded with the following note:

The Court cannot provide you a dictionary to consult during your deliberations. As to the elements of the offense of extortion, please refer to Jury Instruction 2. Please continue your deliberations.

(Exhibit C-3). The Appellant was given an opportunity to object or to ask that Jury Instruction C-2,

³ In fact, the Appellant did argue, in his closing arguments, that there was insufficient evidence to show that the Appellant's position with Court Programs, Inc. fell under the statute. (Transcript p. 315 - 316).

of which he now complains, be clarified. He chose not to do so. The jury then submitted a second note to the trial court which read:

The program Court Programs, Inc. Is defined as "a contractor providing incarceration services for the City of Gulfport, Mississippi, and under the color of said office, In document C-2 number 2.

Is this a typographical error in definition and we are only to gather that the defendant worked for this company, or are we to also deliberate about the nature of the services provided by Court Programs, Inc?

In other words, should the statement read

"Court Programs, Inc., a contractor providing probation services for the City of Gulfport?

(Exhibit C-2). Again the trial court read the note to counsel for both parties and discussions followed regarding the best way to respond. (Transcript p. 326 - 327). The trial court responded with the following:

Jury Instruction 2 (designated C-2) is proper as worded, and contains all the essential elements that must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Please continue your deliberations.

(Exhibit C-4). When asked if he approved of the response, counsel for Appellant responded, "I can live with that." (Transcript p. 327). Again he was given an opportunity to request that the trial court clarify the instruction and chose not to do so. As such, he cannot, now, take issue with the trial court's response.

Nonetheless, in his brief, the Appellant asserts that the trial court's response to the second note "left intact the jury's impression that the trial court had 'defined' Court Programs, Inc., as a contractor that provided incarceration services and that the state was relieved of the burden to prove this." (Appellant's Brief p. 23). The trial court's response did not, as asserted by the Appellant, impress upon the jury that the instruction defined Court Programs, Inc. The trial court's response explained that the instruction contained each of the elements required and that <u>each</u> element had to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Mississippi law states clearly that "[i]f the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found." *Armstrong*, 828 So. 2d at 244. In the case at hand, the jury was instructed with regard to each element of the crime and the Appellant suffered no injustice. Thus, there is no reversible error.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT IMPROPERLY INTERPRET THE EXTORTION STATUTE WHEN RULING ON THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.

The Appellant next argues that "in ruling on [the Appellant's] motion for a directed verdict, the trial court construed the statute in favor of the State rather than liberally in favor of [the Appellant] as it was required to do." (Appellant's Brief p. 28). The statute in question is Mississippi Code Annotated §97-11-33 which reads as follows:

If any judge, justice court judge, sheriff, deputy sheriff, sheriff's employee, constable, assessor, collector, clerk, county medical examiner, county medical examiner investigator, employee of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, employee of any contractor providing incarceration services or any other officer, shall knowingly demand, take or collect, under color of his office, any money fee or reward whatever, not authorized by law, or shall demand and receive, knowingly, any fee for service not actually performed, such officer, so offending, shall be guilty of extortion, and, on conviction, shall be punished by fine not exceeding Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00), or imprisonment for not more than five (5) years, or both, and shall be removed from office.

The main focus of the Appellant's argument is whether the Appellant's position at Court Programs, Inc. falls under one of the positions listed in the statute. The trial court held, in ruling on the Appellant's motion for directed for verdict, that there was sufficient evidence that the Appellant's position at Court Programs, Inc. fell under this statute.

This Court has previously held that a statute must be read in such a way as to "make all parts harmonize with each other and render them consistent with its scope and object." *Corning v.*

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